
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a Regular City Council Meeting 
on Monday, April 22, 2024, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Declaration of any Conflict of Interest 
5. Public Forum (PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL 

BE SHARED WITH THE COUNCIL DURING PUBLIC FORUM. Email dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 
6. Minutes             Page # 

a. October 10, 2023 Regular Meeting Minutes       02-07 
b. October 23, 2023 Regular Meeting Minutes       08-11 
c. March 25, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes       12-17 

7. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 
a. Façade Improvement Grant  - RC2 TIF District results      18 
b. Appointment of members of the Registration Board of Appeals     19 
c. Appointment of Election Workers         20 
d. Bid results for Public Works         21 

i. Culverts 
ii. Street paint  

iii. Shim and patch 
iv. Country Paving 
v. Intown Paving 

vi. Sand 
vii. Airport crack sealing 

viii. Fire Station rear parking lot paving 
e. Letter appointing an Acting City Manager        22-23 
f.    Recognition of May 5 – 11, 2024 as Professional Municipal Clerk’s Week    24-25 

8. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
a. Public Hearing – Malt Liquor, Wine & Spirits Sales for the Sizzle & Slice Restaurant  26 
b. Public Hearing – Ordinance 02, 2024 Series, Establishing the Caribou Horizons Youth Council 27-38 

9. Reports by Staff and Committees 
a. March financial report (Finance Director)       39-58 
b. City Manager’s Report          59-61 

10. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 
a. Snow Removal Contract Agreement for Unorganized Territory of Connor Township  62-68 
b. Maine DOT Mill & Fill, 1 ¼” Overlay, Project No. 26065.00, 26067.00, 26430.00    69-71 

11. Old Business 
12. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 
13. Next Regular Meeting: May 28 
14. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a. Executive Session for real estate matters pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.C 
15. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


October 10, 2023 
23-18 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council meeting on Monday, October 10, 2023, with the 
following members present; Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, Councilors Bagley, Morrill, 
Theriault, and Willey.  Councilor Goughan was absent and excused.  

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting.  

Department Manager Peter Baldwin (Library Director) was present for the meeting.  

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via 
Spectrum and YouTube.  

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Smith read an invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4: Public Forum 

There were no comments made by the public.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

a.  Regular City Council meeting – July 24, 2023 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the minutes of the 
July 24, 2023 meeting as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – 
Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

There were no items scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

There were no items scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  Presentation of 2022 Audit – Felch & Company 

Gisele MacDonald from Felch & Company gave a brief description of the 2022 Audit Report and 
highlighted some key points.  The audit shows that it was a clean audit and the City is in good 
standing.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the 2022 Municipal 
Audit as presented.  

2



October 10, 2023 
23-18 Pg. 2 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – 
Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

b.  Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s report dated October 10, 2023.  

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Library 2024 – 2028 Strategic Plan – Library Director Peter Baldwin 

Peter Baldwin (Library Director) presented a strategic plan for the next 5 years for the Library.  
The strategic plan is a framework document and shows the plans and the way that they are 
proposing to make changes to the Library over the next 5 years.  They also worked on the 
Library Mission statement and changed it from four paragraphs to one.  In the strategic plan he 
included the libraries’ priorities with graphs for both 2 and 5 years in detail.  

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to approve Resolution 10-
01-2023, a resolution approving the Caribou Public Library 2024-2028.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – 
Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

b.  Countersign the RSU#39 Bond Referendum Warrant 

Manager Thompson explained that The Regional School Unit No. 39 board signed the warrant 
and notice of election calling the Regional School Unit No. 39 Bond Referendum in accordance 
with 20-A MRSA § 1486  for November 7, 2023 at the Caribou Wellness Center, 55 Bennett 
Drive from 8:00AM to 8:00PM.   

c.  Approve contract with NMDC for LDD services pursuant to the NBRC grant 

Manager Thompson explained that the Northern Border Regional Commission (NBRC) Catalyst 
Grant requires that grantees utilize a Local Development District (LDD) for administrative work 
on the grant. The scope of the is to be provided is detailed in the contract and includes quarterly 
and final reporting, reimbursement requests and general assistance with understanding grantee 
responsibilities. LDDs are compensated for their contributions to grant administration through a 
reimbursement process with the grantee based on a formula of 2% of the NBRC award. The fee 
has been included in the grant amount as it is a requirement for grantees. In our area, the Local 
Development District (LDD) is the Northern Maine Development Commission (NMDC). This is 
the next step in the process. The City of Caribou has not received a notice to proceed with the 
project. However, we are getting all the background work done so that we can put our foot on the 
gas once that notice is received. 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to authorize City Manager 
Penny Thompson to execute the enclosed contract with Northern Maine Development 
Commission for services as the City of Caribou’s Local Development District as required by the 
Northern Border Regional Commission. 

3



October 10, 2023 
23-18 Pg. 3 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – 
Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

d.  Approve by-laws of the Caribou Development Committee 

Manager Thompson explained The Caribou Development Committee was established by the 
Caribou City Council. The organizational document for the Caribou Development Committee is 
found in Chapter 22 of the City of Caribou Ordinances. At their September 20, 2023, the Caribou 
Development Committee approved the by-laws found on the following pages. Section 22-104 
requires that the City Manager forward the committee approved by-laws to the City Council for 
review and approval before those by-laws take effect.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to approve the bylaws as 
presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – 
Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

e.  Sale of Municipal Property – pellet silos 

Manager Thompson explained that in 2018, the Caribou City Council passed Resolution 02-02-
2018 Approving a City Policy for Disposal of Surplus Equipment and Resources. The pellet 
boilers at the Caribou Fire Station and Municipal Building have been removed and therefore 
there is no longer a need for pellet silos. The silos have a value greater than $300 and therefore 
must be listed for sale under the provisions of the policy. The information available describes the 
one at the Caribou Fire Station as a 18T silo, 9’ X 18’ and the one at the Municipal Building as a 
9T silo, 6’ X 18’. The City Manager has looked for the owner’s manual for the silos – none were 
found. The City Manager has reached out to Brock Industrial Products to obtain the value of the 
siloes. The email stated, “Either of those two type/sizes of silos would not typically bring more 
than $1000 for the 6’ to $3000 for the 9’ per silo at the very most.” The siloes still have pellets in 
them. A buyer will need special equipment to empty the siloes before the siloes can be moved, 
which will increase the cost to the purchaser. 

Motion made by Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Willey to list the two silos for a minimum 
price of $1,000 to be removed no more than 90 days of purchase. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – 
Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

f.  Discussion & possible action to consider accepting a deed to 7 Water Street 

Manager Thompson explained that the property at 7 Water Street, owned by Brian & Sharon 
Bickford, was damaged by a fire in January 2023.  Mr. & Mrs. Bickford are now three years 
behind on their property taxes and therefore, in November, the property will foreclose unless the 
Caribou City Council waives foreclosure prior to the automatic lien foreclosure date. The site 
needs significant work to clean up this blighted property. This could prove challenging due to the 
buildings on either side, the proximity to the Caribou Stream and the topography of the lot. The 
City Manager has had a conversation with the Maine DEP about the disposal of any remaining 

4



October 10, 2023 
23-18 Pg. 4 

petroleum product in the heating fuel tanks. There will be an expense to that action. By accepting 
a deed to the property, the parcel would not be limited to disposing of the property according to 
the current tax-acquired property policy. City Attorney Rick Solman has recommended 
acceptance of the deed to facilitate the needed cleanup of this blighted property. 

Council had a brief discussion regarding their concerns with the property at 7 Water Street, 
regarding the environmental impact to the stream and the two adjacent properties.  No action was 
taken regarding the property.   

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

There were no items scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Morrill explained that he attended an AWS meeting and that they have an impressive 
project with the opening of the new cell.  He also gave a shout out to both the Crown Park Inn 
and Caribou Motor Inn for the amazing jobs they have done with both locations and the 
renovations.  Councilor Morrill continued to commend Troy Haney and Jim Gamage for the 
amazing job they did with their Dust Bowl event that was held at Spud Speedway.   

Councilor Willey stated that the Library Board is currently preparing for the Small Business 
Saturday Basket Raffle fundraisers.  

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings: October 23, November 13 & 27, December 
11 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 
under MRSA Title 1, §405.6) 

a.  Discussion of personnel matter pursuant to MRSA Title 1, §405.6.A 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to enter executive session 
at 7:32 PM to discuss a personnel matter pursuant to MRSA Title 1, §405.6.A 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – 
Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 8:32PM 

No action was taken.  

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to adjourn the meeting at 
8:33 pm.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – 
Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

5



October 23, 2023 
23-19 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council Meeting on Monday, October 23, 2023, with the 
following members present; Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, Councilors Goughan, Morrill, 
Theriault, and Willey.  Councilor Bagley was present via Zoom.  

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting.  

Department manager Gary Marquis (Superintendent of Parks & Recreation) was present for the 
meeting.  

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via 
Spectrum and YouTube. 

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Smith read an invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

Angela Gagnon of New Sweden, Owner of property on Water Street that contains Lavender Puff.  

Ms. Gagnon came in with concerns regarding her building because she would like to begin to 
work on the building and came to get some discussion or answers regarding the location. 

Sandy Merritt owner of 35 York Street 

Ms. Merritt came in to express her concerns regarding her property at 35 York Street. She stated 
that she had received a tax lien on her property and believes that someone had forged her 
signature for the certified mail. She explained that her spouse had been diagnosed with cancer 
and the bank made them get a loan to help cover the taxes on the property and that the bank had 
ordered 100 gallons of fuel and had the water turned back on which ended up resulting in 1.8 
million gallons of water going through the home damaging the property.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

There were no minutes submitted for approval.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  Bid Openings, Awards and Appointments 

a.  Congratulations to Finance Director Carl Grant, recertification as a Maine Tax Collector 

Manager Thompson read a letter received from Julie Giles, Chairperson of the Maine Municipal 
Tax Collectors’ and Treasurers’ Association.  

6



October 23, 2023 
23-19 Pg. 2 

 

 

The Council congratulated Mr. Grant on his achievement.   

b.  Façade Improvement Grant Awards  

7



October 23, 2023 
23-19 Pg. 3 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the results of the 
Façade Improvement Grant committee, and award a Façade Improvement grant in the amount of 
$4,166.67 each to Ruska Coffee, Thrive Body Spa, and Godin’s Service for projects described in 
the applications and subject to the terms set forth in the grant application. 

Councilor Morrill commented that all the applicants were phenomenal young entrepreneurs, and 
he hopes to see more applications in the future.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

c.  Small Business Saturday Proclamation 

Mayor Smith read a proclamation proclaiming November 25th as Small Business Saturday in 
Caribou.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the proclamation 
as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

a.   Public Hearing on General Assistance Ordinance repeal & replacement of appendices 

Mayor Smith explained that each year a new set of General Assistance Maximums are provided 
by the Maine Welfare Director’s Association (MWDA) and Maine Municipal Administration 
(MMA) and we have to make adjustments to our Maximums as set by the state.  We do have the 
option to place higher amounts for the maximums, but at this time it is not believed to be 
necessary to do so.   

Opened Public Hearing: 6:22 P.M. 

There were no comments made by the public. 

Closed Public Hearing: 6:24 P.M. 

Councilor Bageley stated that he thought that the maximums were too low.  

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Mayor Smith to approve Ordinance No. 4, 
2023 series, amending Chapter 17 General Assistance and to adopt the 2022 version of the MMA 
model GA Ordinance.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  September Financial Report – Finance Director Carl Grant 

8



October 23, 2023 
23-19 Pg. 4 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the September 2023 financial report and the quarterly 
investment report.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the September 
2023 Financial Report as presented.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

b.  Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s report dated October 23, 2023.  

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions  

a.  Caribou Riverfront Redevelopment Committee requested ordinance changes 

Manager Thompson explained that at a recent meeting, staff brought up inconsistencies in 
Chapter 20 which established the Caribou Riverfront Redevelopment Committee.  The 
committee voted that the official name should be Caribou Riverfront Redevelopment Committee 
as both Caribou Riverfront Development Committee and Caribou Riverfront Renaissance 
Committee are both mentioned in the chapter.   

Mayor Smith set a public hearing for November 27th for the proposed changes to Chapter 20 
Caribou Riverfront Redevelopment Committee.  

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

a. Discussion & possible action to consider accepting a deed to 7 Water Street 

Manager Thompson explained property at 7 Water Street, owned by Brian & Sharon Bickford, 
was damaged by a fire in January 2023. The Mr. & Mrs. Bickford are now three years behind on 
their property taxes and therefore, in November, the property will foreclose unless the Caribou 
City Council waives foreclosure prior to the automatic lien foreclosure date. 

The site needs significant work to clean up this blighted property. This could prove challenging 
due to the buildings on either side, the proximity to the Caribou Stream and the topography of 
the lot. The City Manager has had a conversation with the Maine DEP about the disposal of any 
remaining petroleum product in the heating fuel tanks. There will be an expense to those actions.  

By accepting a deed to the property, the parcel would not be limited to disposing of the property 
according to the current tax-acquired property policy.  

City Attorney Rick Solman has recommended acceptance of the deed to facilitate the needed 
cleanup of this blighted property.  

At the City Council’s direction at the last meeting, she emailed the owner of 9 Water Street and 
spoke to the owners of 3 Water Street. Both are looking for the City to clean up 7 Water Street so 
they can regain use of their properties.  

9



October 23, 2023 
23-19 Pg. 5 

If the City Council is considering accepting the deed and subsequently cleaning up the property, 
the City should hire an engineer to look at the property first. We should make certain that any 
work done will not adversely impact those neighboring properties. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Mayor Smith to accept the deed at 7 Water 
Street as presented by Counsel Leger.   

Council had a brief discussion regarding the liability and what it would entail if the city assumed 
the property including the need to hire an engineer to assess the situation and come up with a 
plan.  They also stated that it would be extremely expensive to have to clean up the property.   

Mr. Marquis (Superintendent of Parks and Recreation) stated that the plans for the fishway are 
only going as far as the bridge.  

Council discussed that they should not act too fast, they should first try to get an idea of what it 
would all encompass to take on the property and the project and that they may want to get more 
legal advice. 

Mayor Smith withdrew his second from the motion.  

Councilor Morrill rescinded his motion.  There was no action taken by the Council.  

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Bagley stated that the broadband committee is waiting until they get an answer so they 
can weigh their options going forward.   

Councilor Morrill congratulated the Nylander Committee and Peter, he stated that he attended 
the soft opening at the museum and that it was wicked cool and now they are going to have owls 
coming in on the weekend.  He encouraged the citizens to go check it out and he hopes that they 
are able to continue what they are doing and that they are successful. He also mentioned an event 
that local contractor Grant Spinney is holding a Halloween party on Vaughn Street for people to 
enjoy.  

Deputy Mayor Boma stated that she was also able to attend the soft opening at the Museum and 
she was happy with how they were able to clean out the basement and make a space where they 
can now hold different activities.  She commended them for the work they have done.   

Deputy Mayor Boma asked if there were any updates regarding the lights downtown.   

Manager Thompson explained that RL Todd has been working on it and found a couple of 
different items to work on and that it was dealing with an underground cable failure that will 
need to be moved above ground and should be fixed this week.   

Councilor Theriault stated the museum now has two part time employees.   

Councilor Willey stated the portico is almost done and that the one that was there was in very 
bad condition.  They are hoping to finish up the painting before the snow comes.   

10



October 23, 2023 
23-19 Pg. 6 

Mayor Smith reminded that he was able to go the Craft fair and that it was packed, and he 
commended Gary for the job well done with the advertising and setting up the event.  He also 
reminded everyone that the Trunk or Treat is happening this weekend at the Wellness Center. 

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings:  November 13 & 27, December 11 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 
under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a.  Executive Session regarding economic development MRSA, Title 1, §405.6.C 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to enter executive session at 
7:10 PM under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6.C to discuss economic development.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 7:50 PM 

No action was taken.  

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to adjourn the meeting at 
7:50 PM.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, Morrill – Yes, J. 
Theriault – Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

11



March 25, 2024 
24-7 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a regular City Council Meeting on Monday, March 25, 2024, 
with the following members present; Mayor Boma, Deputy Mayor Theriault, Councilors Bagley, 
Kelley, and Lovewell. Councilor Morrill was present via Zoom; Councilor Smith was absent and 
excused.  

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting. 

Department Manager Carl Grant (Finance Director) was present for the meeting.  

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via 
Spectrum and YouTube. 

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/Inspirational thought 

Councilor Lovewell read the invocation.  

Council Agneda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Boma led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Council Agenda Item #4:  Declaration of any Conflict of Interest 

No declarations were made.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  Public Forum 

There were no comments made by the public.  

Council Agenda Item #6:  Minutes 

There were no minutes submitted for approval.  

Council Agenda Item #7:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments  

a.  Façade Improvement Grant – Downtown TIF District results 

Mayor Boma explained that For the Spring 2024 Façade Improvement Grant period, the City of 
Caribou received three worthy applications from businesses in our downtown Tax Increment 
Financing district. Those applicants are Glass with Class, Thrive Body Spa and Kieffer Real 
Estate.  

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Lovewell to accept the results of 
the Façade Improvement Grant committee and award a Façade Improvement grant in the amount 
of $500 to Glass with Class, $2,000 to Thrive Body Spa and $1,000 to Kieffer Real Estate for 
projects described in the applications and subject to the terms set forth in the grant application. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, C. Boma – Yes. (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item#8:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

12



March 25, 2024 
24-7 Pg. 2 

a.  Public Hearing – Aroostook County ARPA grant application for Public Health Effects 

Mayor Boma explained that letters of Intent were sent to the County of Aroostook for the 2024 
ARPA Program. The City of Caribou received a Notification Eligibility Email from the County 
that the projects were eligible to a move to the full application process. 

Open Public Hearing: 6:05 PM 

Manager Thompson explained the grant application is for a 50/50 match for equipment to be 
used in the Caribou Fire and Ambulance Department and the Caribou Police Department. A copy 
of the letter of intent is attached. This grant will help fund five Stryker Stretchers for use with 
patient care by EMS crew as well as the new Hindsight 60 Series Multimedia Recorder System 
for both Police & Fire. The match funding was secured during the 2024 Municipal Budget 
process. 

Several letters of support have been received from people such as Scott Dow on behalf of IAFF 
5191, Beth Collamore M.D. who oversees care and training of the medics, Miles Williams of 
Caribou Organization Promoting Public Safety, the local communities of Stockholm and 
Limestone, and even a patient who uses the services to be transported.   

There were no comments made by the public other than the support letters received.  

Closed Public Hearing: 6:08 PM 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Lovewell to approve the City 
of Caribou 2024 Aroostook County ARPA program application in the category of Public Health 
and Negative Economic Impact.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, C. Boma – Yes. (So voted) 

b.  Public Hearing – Aroostook County ARPA grant application for Infrastructure Improvements  

Mayor Boma explained that letters of Intent were sent to the County of Aroostook for the 2024 
ARPA Program. The City of Caribou received a Notification Eligibility Email from the County 
that the projects were eligible to a move to the full application process. 

Open Public Hearing: 6:09 PM 

Manager Thompson said that the grant application is for a match to construct a connection to 
keep a legacy business, Chadwick Baross, in Caribou by installing 3,000 LF of sanitary sewer 
line to the largest lift station operated by the Caribou Utilities District (CUD). This project aligns 
with the critical need for necessary investments and improvements in existing water and sewer 
infrastructure. This will expand the capacity for connections to encourage additional businesses 
and/or residential growth on Main Street. Chadwick-Baross has committed $75,000 towards the 
project. The Caribou Utilities District has committed $2,000 towards the project. To match the 
funds requested from County ARPA funds, I am suggesting that the City obligate $220,000 in 
ARPA NEU funds. 

13



March 25, 2024 
24-7 Pg. 3 

Ms. Thompson continued to explain that the City has to commit the money for the project or it 
can lose points during the application process.   

Troy Haney, Caribou Resident, and Committee Chair of Caribou Development Committee  

Mr. Haney came in to speak in favor of the grant application for infrastructure.  He explained 
that the extension will open the area of the City that is approximately 125-130 acers to more 
development, both commercial and residential.  He also stated that the business that is looking to 
expand is a business we want to keep in Caribou for all of the benefits to the City and 
surrounding area.  

Council had a brief discussion regarding the line extension project and the commitment of funds.  
They would like to speak with the Caribou Utilities District regarding the plans for expansion as 
well.  They talked about how this will also show that Caribou is supporting growth of business as 
well.  

Closed public hearing: 6:45 PM 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Morrill to approve the City of 
Caribou 2024 Aroostook County ARPA program application in the category of Investments in 
Infrastructure and obligate $220,000 in ARPA NEU funds towards the project.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, C. Boma – Yes. (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #9:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  February financial report (Finance Director)  

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the City Financial report for the month of February.   

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Morrill to accept the February 
Finance report as presented.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, C. Boma – Yes. (So voted) 

b.  City Manager’s Report  

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager's Report dated March 25, 2024. 

Manager Thompson added that it is time to sign the 2024 Interlocal cooperation agreements for 
Ambulance and Fire services for the neighboring towns.   

Council had a brief discussion regarding the rates that are being charged to the neighboring 
towns and they would like do a study regarding the rates before the new year.   

Manager Thompson explained that the City of Caribou has been working with the Maine 
Connectivity authority for a grant through their connectivity hubs program and the grant 
application is due April 12th.  This grant does not require a match.  BR Smith Associates has been 

14



March 25, 2024 
24-7 Pg. 4 

working with Peter on reconfiguring space at the library.  This would build out the second floor 
adding a conference room, areas for telehealth, a lobby area, and would have an elevator that 
would go all the way up for easy access.  This would also make more space downstairs for 
computers and connectivity.  With this grant the City needs to agree to take care of the property, 
which is not a big deal because the Library has been here for over 100 years.  

The City will need to further acknowledge that if the MCA Grant requested by the City is 
awarded by MCA, the City will be required to enter into a Grant Agreement with MCA 
containing the terms and conditions requiring City compliance with federal source funding 
requirements, including by not limited to project implementation, performance requirements, 
reporting, and monitoring requirements.  

The City will need to acknowledge and represents to MCA that if MCA awards the City the 
Grant to support the Connectivity Hub development as proposed by the City, the City accepts 
responsibility to fund the ongoing operations of the Connectivity Hub as described in the City 
application to MCA for a minimum of five years after the Project Completion date.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Theriault to accept the grant 
application authorization.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, C. Boma – Yes. (So voted) 

Council discussed the interlocal fire and ambulance service agreements and they would like to 
look at the rates before the next contract renewal.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Theriault to send the contracts 
out as presented for this year for 2024 with review to be done in the following year.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, C. Boma – Yes. (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #10:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Land Bank Presentation (Councilor Bagley) 

Councilor Bagley explained that he was first introduced to the concept of land banks five years 
ago while on the planning board.  He explained that the former CEO was very interested in it and 
provided lots of information regarding the concept.  He stated that this is an option of disposing 
of tax acquired property.   

Council had a brief discussion regarding the new laws and the pro’s and con’s of land banking.  
Mayor Boma stated that she has spoken with someone in Sanford and that they would like to talk 
to someone in code or the manager to discuss the options and what it entails.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to table for further 
discussion until after the City Manager goes to her meeting.    

15



March 25, 2024 
24-7 Pg. 5 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – No, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, C. Boma – Yes. (So voted) 

b.  Creation of Façade Improvement Grant – RC-2 TIF District 

Mayor Boma explained that The City of Caribou has had a successful façade improvement grant 
program for several years in the Downtown TIF District. There has been interest from business 
owners to also have a façade improvement grant program in the RC-2 TIF District. Staff checked 
with DECD who has communicated that one could be established. As part of the 2024 budget 
process, the City Council has appropriated funding for the façade improvement grant program. 
After the awards from the Spring 2024 Downtown TIF District façade improvement grant awards 
are funded, there will be $16,500 remaining to be appropriated. The application program can be 
structured like the Downtown TIF Façade Improvement program using similar criteria and 
scoring. The initial grant period could have a due date of April 12 and the grant awards voted on 
at the April 22 City Council meeting. 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Morrill to establish a Façade 
Improvement grant program in the RC-2 TIF District with initial applications due April 12 with 
funds budgeted in 11-01-411-01 Economic Development Façade Improvement.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, C. Boma – Yes. (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #11:  Old Business 

There were no items scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #12:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Deputy Mayor Theriault stated that she is working to get a highway meeting scheduled in the 
next week and one of the topics of discussion will be LED lights.  

Councilor Morrill commended the highway department on the great job they did in the recent 
storm, they plowed his neighborhood and didn’t roll any of the lawns.  

Mayor Boma stated that in terms for the day of the eclipse the City office will be closing by noon 
or 1:00 PM for April 8th.  

Council Agenda Item #13:  Next Regular Meetings:  April 22 & May 28 

Council Agenda Item #14:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 
under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a.  Executive session under 1 MRSA, Title 1, Â§405.6.C for Economic Development Matters 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Morrill to enter executive session 
under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6.C at 7:52 PM to discuss Economic Development matters.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, C. Boma – Yes. (So voted) 

16



March 25, 2024 
24-7 Pg. 6 

Council exited executive session at 8:32 PM 

No action taken.   

Council Agenda Item #15:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Kelley to adjourn the meeting 
at 8:33 PM.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, C. Boma – Yes. (So voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  April 22, 2024 
RE:  Spring 2024 RC-2 Façade Improvement Grant  
 
 

 
In the 2024 approved municipal budget, $40,000 was approved to continue the façade improvement grant in the 
Downtown TIF District and, after consultation with DECD, expand the program to include a façade improvement 
grant in the RC-2 TIF District. The Downtown TIF District spring grant period granted $3,500 in awards, leaving 
a total of $36,500 available. 
 
For the Spring 2024 RC-2 Façade Improvement Grant period, the City of Caribou received three worthy 
applications from businesses in our RC-2 Tax Increment Financing district. Those applicants are: 
 
Caribou Inn & Convention Center 19 Main Street  $7,500  Signage, fencing, awnings, paint 
Sullivan’s Floor Covering  1140 Presque Isle Rd $7,500  New vestibule on slab  
County Ag & Turf Supply, Inc. 7 Down Siding Rd $7,500  Remove overhead doors, new entry 
 
A selection committee was convened, and the unanimous decision was made to recommend that the Caribou City 
Council award the amounts above to the applicants. County Ag is still finalizing their quotes so their approval 
would be conditional on receiving those prior to the start of any work. 
 
All projects will require that a building permit be obtained through the code enforcement office. 
 
There will be a remaining amount of $14,000 available for the Fall Façade Improvement Grant application period. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
To affirm the decision of the committee, please make a motion to “accept the results of the Façade Improvement 
Grant committee and award a Façade Improvement grant in the amount of $7,500 to the Caribou Inn & 
Convention Center, $7,500 to Sullivan’s Floor Coverings and $7,500 to County Ag & Turf Supply, Inc. for 
projects described in the applications and subject to the terms set forth in the grant application”. 
 
 
 
 
 

18



 
CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Danielle Brissette, City Clerk  
RE:   Appointment of Election Clerks  
DATE:  April 16, 2024 
 
 

 
 
Every three years new appointments are due for the Voter Registration Board of Appeals.   

Under Title 21-A §103 the Voter Registration board of appeals must be present in a municipality with a 
population of 5,000 or higher.  A Registration Appeals Board hears appeals of persons aggrieved by a 
decision of the registrar to either remove a name from the voting list or refuse to place a name on the 
voting list.   

Boards consist of 3 members appointed by the Municipal officers; the chair is nominated by the Clerk.  
Two of the members are nominated by the major political parties and serve 3-year terms.   

*The Clerk and Registrar are ineligible to serve on the Board.   

We have now received the letters from both the Republican and Democrat Parties with their suggestions.   

The names received were Christopher Lydon and Gary Sanfacon, and Judy Ann Corrow as the 
nomination for the Chair.    

 

 

 

 

Suggested Action:  

Move to renew the appointments for Christopher Lydon and Gary Sanfacon as members to the Voter 
Registration Board of appeals with a term ending December 31, 2026, and Judy Ann Corrow as the Chair 
to the board with a term ending on December 31, 2027. 

Second and vote. 

 

 

 

19



 
CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Danielle Brissette, City Clerk  
RE:   Appointment of Election Clerks  
DATE:  April 1, 2024 
 

 
Per MRSA Title 21-A Section 503-A, all nominations for election clerks must be submitted to 
the municipal officers each general election year (even-numbered years).  This will be on the 
April 22, 2024, City Council Agenda.   

Below are the names of those individuals that have expressed interest in serving as Election 
Clerks.   

The appointment would be from May 1, 2024 to April 30, 2026.  

2024-2026 Election Clerks: 

Barbara Aiken 

Joan Albert 

Beth-Ann Alden 

Roy Alden 

Cheryl Barnes 

Donna Barnes  

Janice Beaulieu 

Beth Collamore 

Karen Conroy 

Julie Cook 

Patty Corriveau 

Darylen Cote 

Carole Doody 

Bill Francis 

Cherie Garman 

Dale Gordon 

Diane Gove 

Gail Hagelstein 

Kalen Hill 

Meagan Irving 

Kay Judkins 

Jacqueline Lambert 

Elizabeth Long 

Idella Marquis  

Linda McLaughlin 

Betty McNeal 

Jennifer Olson 

Katherine Panaro 

Dawn Peterson 

Chad Saunders 

Janet Schofield 

Deborah Sirois 

Josselyn Skidgel 

Nancy Solman 

Karen Thibodeau  

Nancy Todd 

20



21



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  April 22, 2024 
RE:  Letter Appointing an Acting Manager 
 
 

 
I will be going away for economic development training and therefore will need to appoint an acting manager. I 
am appointing Gary Marquis to serve as the Acting Manager. 
 
Suggested action: 
 
To affirm this appointment, please make a motion to approve the submitted letter appointing Gary Marquis to 
serve as the Acting Manager in my absence. 
 
Second. Discuss. Vote 
 
 
 
 
 

22



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
April 23, 2024 
 
City of Caribou 
City Clerk Danielle Brissette 
25 High Street 
Caribou Maine 04736 
 
Dear City Clerk Danielle Brissette: 
 
In my temporary absence, I designate City of Caribou Superintendent of Parks and 
Recreation Gary Marquis to be the acting City Manager. This was approved by a vote 
of the City Council at their regular meeting on Monday April 22, 2024. 
 
This appointment is made pursuant to the Charter of the City of Caribou, Article III, 
Section 3.03. 
 
Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Penny Thompson, 
City Manager 
 
 

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE              Phone:   (207) 493-5961 
                 Fax:   (207) 498-3954 

 

    Municipal Building 
25 High Street 

Caribou, Me 04736 

23



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  April 22, 2024 
RE:  Recognition of May 5 – 11, 2024 as Professional Municipal Clerk’s Week 
 
 

 
The Week of May 5th to May 11th, 2024 is observed as the 55th annual Professional Municipal Clerk’s Week. To 
recognize the important work done by the professional municipal clerks in Caribou, the attached Proclamation 
has been drafted for the Caribou City Council. 
 
Suggested action: 
 
To adopt this proclamation, please make a motion to recognize May 5th to 11th as Municipal Clerk’s Week in 
Caribou. 
 
Second. Discuss. Vote 
 
 
 
 
 

24



Proclamation 
55th ANNUAL PROFESSIONAL MUNICIPAL CLERKS WEEK 

May 5 - 11, 2024 
 

Whereas, The Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk, a time honored and vital part 
of local government exists throughout the world, and 

Whereas, The Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk is the oldest among public 
servants, and 

Whereas, The Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk provides the professional link 
between the citizens, the local governing bodies, and agencies of government at other 

levels, and 
Whereas, Professional Municipal Clerks have pledged to be ever mindful of their 

neutrality and impartiality, rendering equal service to all. 
Whereas, The Professional Municipal Clerk serves as the information center on 

functions of local government and community. 
Whereas, Professional Municipal Clerks continually strive to improve the administration 
of the affairs of the Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk through participation in 

education programs, seminars, workshops and the annual meetings of their state, 
provincial, county and international professional organizations. 

Whereas, It is most appropriate that we recognize the accomplishments of the Office of 
the Professional Municipal Clerk. 

 
Now, Therefore, We, the Caribou City Council, do recognize the week of May 5 
through 11, 2024, as Professional Municipal Clerks Week, and further extend 

appreciation to our Professional Municipal Clerk, Danielle Brissette, and to her 
Deputy Clerk, Kristina Drinkall, and to all Professional Municipal Clerks for the vital 

services they perform and their exemplary dedication to the communities they 
represent. 

 
Dated this 22th day of April, 2024 

 
Dated: April 22, 2024    CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL 
   
   
   

Courtney Boma, Mayor  Dan Bagley 
   
   

Joan Theriault, Deputy Mayor  Jennifer Kelley 
   
   

Jody Smith  Tamara Lovewell 
   
  A true Copy, 

John Morrill   
  Attest: ____________________________ 
              Danielle Brissett, City Clerk  
   
   
   
 25



 
 

 
CARIBOU CITY CLERK’S OFFICE  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Danielle Brissette  
RE:   Liquor License Approval 
DATE:  April 16, 2024 
 
 

 
The City has received a new liquor license application from Chad Saunders of Sizzle and Slice.  
This business was formerly known as Bechard’s Grille and has been sold and has new owners 
effective May 1st.    Staff has reviewed the application and recommends Council approve the new 
application.  
  
 
Suggested Action:  
Please make a motion to approve the liquor license application for Sizzle and Slice located at 30 
Skyway Drive, Unit 300/400.  
 
Second and vote.  

26



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 22, 2024 
Re:   Caribou Horizons Youth Council, presented by Councilor Dan Bagley 

  

Councilor Dan Bagley has made a PowerPoint presentation on an initiative called the Caribou Horizons 
Youth Council. The proposed ordinance was introduced at the February 26, 2024, meeting with a Public 
Hearing scheduled for tonight’s meeting. 
 
The Public Hearing has been properly called and will be held tonight as scheduled. 
 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
Please open the public hearing and receive input from the public and City Council. 

After closing the public hearing, a Councilor may make a motion to adopt Ordinance 2, 2024 series, 
“An Ordinance to Adopt Chapter 23” with or without amendment, or reject it. 

If adopted, the adopted ordinance shall become effective at the expiration of 30 days after adoption. 

 

27



Caribou Horizons Youth Council (CHYC)

Dan Bagley
Caribou City Council

22 April 2024

28



What is the Caribou Horizons Youth Council (CHYC)?

• A joint initiative between the City of Caribou and RSU 39 
• An official advisory committee of the City, made up of high school students 

(juniors and seniors), tasked to:
– Provide input and recommendations to the Caribou City Council and its affiliated 

advisory and regulatory boards; and 
– Plan and implement youth-identified community events and initiatives

• Composed of competitively-selected students from across the widest possible 
spectrum of racial, gender, and socio-economic backgrounds and most balanced 
mix of talents and interests, to ensure diversity of opinions and perspective

29



What are the benefits of establishing the CHYC?

• Creates a formal role for Caribou youth in local decision-making, ensures their 
voices are heard

• Provides our City leadership a better understanding of youth perspectives, 
priorities and issues, thereby enhancing overall effectiveness and responsiveness

• Promotes regular and active civic engagement among Caribou youth and provides 
a “hands-on” educational environment for Caribou youth to learn about how local 
government works

• Sparks interest, and establishes a pipeline for high school students to serve on City 
Council and/or other local government committees and boards in the future

• Provides high school students an opportunity to earn community service hours 
and strengthen college and scholarship applications by referencing unique civic 
and leadership activities/experience

• Strengthens the relationship between City leadership and RSU 39 administration 
through a joint initiative focused on youth

30



What will the CHYC do?

• Establish bylaws, elect officers, and hold monthly meetings to review and discuss 
City business

• Conduct outreach among its peer groups, plan and execute youth-oriented 
activities, events, and initiatives

• Attend Caribou City Council meetings, give presentations and participate in 
discussions, and provide input/recommendations to the City Council on general 
topics of interest and specific items before that body 

• Formulate an annual report to City Council on past activities, plans and priorities 
for the coming year

31



Who will support the CHYC?

• City Council
– Establish CHYC by city ordinance
– Appoint a Council liaison to guide and advise the CHYC

• CHS Staff
– Assign an advisor to follow activities of the CHYC, attend meetings, provide advice and 

guidance
– Nominate student members of the CHYC, based on application packages and staff 

adjudication/selection (TBD)
– Provide materials (e.g. office supplies, computer equipment, etc.) as necessary to 

support CHYC operations

• City staff 
– Provide meeting space (if needed), maintain official records, and respond to inquiries 

and information requests

32



What are the next steps?

 Socialize concept among City Council, City Staff, RSU 39 administration and CHS 
Staff

 Draft an ordinance to establish the CHYC as an official standing committee of the 
City of Caribou, secure City Council approval

• Assign City Council Liaison and CHS Faculty Liaison/Advisor
• Further develop and coordinate Council, CHS, and Staff roles and responsibilities
• Formulate an approach for nominating/appointing CHYC members
• Conduct advertising and outreach across City and RSU administration/staff, CHS 

student body, in preparation for a 2024-2025 school year launch

33



Dan Bagley
Caribou City Council

22 April 2024

Questions?

34



 

Introduced by Councilor Bagley 
On February 26, 2024 

 
Ordinance No. 2, 2024 Series 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING CHAPTER 23 – CARIBOU HORIZONS YOUTH COUNCIL 
 
Short Title: An ordinance establishing the Caribou Horizons Youth Council (CHYC) 
 
The City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of Maine, pursuant to the 
requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11 does ordain the following: 
 
Chapter 23 is hereby created to establish the Caribou Horizons Youth Council. 
 
This ordinance, being introduced on February 26, 2024, and a public hearing being held on April 22, 2024, 
was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, this 22nd day of April, 2024. 
 
_______________________________________  _______________________________________  
Daniel Bagley, Councilor    Courtney Boma, Mayor 
 
_______________________________________  _______________________________________ 
Jennifer Kelley, Councilor    Tamara Lovewell, Councilor 
 
_______________________________________  _______________________________________ 
John Morrill, Councilor     Jody Smith, Councilor 
 
_______________________________________   
Joan Theriault, Councilor 
 
       Attest: 
 
       _______________________________________ 
       Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
  

35



 

Chapter 23 Caribou Horizons Youth Council 

ARTICLE I Caribou Horizons Youth Council 

Section 

23-101  Purpose 

23-102  Goals 

23-103  Appointment and Tenure 

23-104  Responsibilities 

23-105  Bylaws 

23-106  Compensation and Benefits 

23-107  Funding 

23-108  Reporting Requirements 

  

36



 

Sec. 23-101    Purpose 

The Caribou Horizons Youth Council (hereinafter, “CHYC”) is an official standing committee of the City, 
established as a joint initiative between the City of Caribou and the Regional School Unit 39 (RSU 39), to 
provide input and recommendations to the Caribou City Council and its affiliated advisory and regulatory 
boards and to plan and implement youth-identified community events and initiatives. 
 
Sec. 23-102     Goals 

The CHYC is established to provide City of Caribou leadership a better understanding of youth 
perspectives, priorities and issues.  In addition, the CHYC increases youth appreciation for the value of 
public service, promotes regular and active civic engagement among Caribou youth, and gives Caribou 
youth a formal role in local decision-making, ensuring their voices are heard.  Finally, the CHYC provides 
a “hands-on” educational environment for Caribou youth to learn about how local government works, 
including the operation of councils, boards and commissions, which complements in-class civic education. 
 
Sec. 23-103  Appointment and Tenure 

The CHYC comprises seven (7) members, nominated from the junior and senior classes at the beginning of 
the school year by the staff of Caribou High School, and approved by majority vote of the Caribou City 
Council.  All members serve 1-year terms, aligned to the school year (i.e. 1 August through 31 July). 
 
Vacancies, due to death, resignation, or any other reason, shall be filled by nomination by the staff of 
Caribou High School and approval by majority vote of the Caribou City Council. 
 
The CHYC is supported by a Caribou City Council Liaison, a Caribou High School Staff Advisor, and the 
Caribou City Staff. 
 
Sec. 23-104    Responsibilities 

The CHYC will: 
• Provide input/recommendations to the City Council on general topics of interest and specific items 

before that body  
• Conduct outreach among its peer groups, plan and execute youth-oriented activities, events, and 

initiatives 
• Attend Caribou City Council meetings, give presentations and participate in discussions 
• Establish bylaws, elect officers, and hold monthly meetings to review and discuss City business, 

formulate input and recommendations 
• Formulate an annual report to City Council on past activities, plans and priorities for the coming 

year 
 
The Caribou City Council will: 

• Appoint a Council Liaison to guide and advise the CHYC 
 

The Caribou High School Staff will: 
• Assign an advisor, who will follow activities of the CHYC, attend meetings, provide advice and 

guidance 
• Manage the student application and adjudication process and nominate student members to the 

Caribou City Council no later than 1 July of each year. 
• Provide materials (e.g. office supplies, computer equipment, etc.) as necessary to support CHYC 

operations and activities 
 

 

37



 

The Caribou City Staff will: 
• Schedule meeting space, maintain official records, and respond to inquiries and information 

requests 
 
Sec. 23-105    Bylaws 

The CHYC shall adopt bylaws providing for the officers, organization, and activities of the council. The 
bylaws shall be approved initially, and may be amended subsequently, by a majority vote of the CHYC. 
The initial bylaws, and any subsequent amendment to the bylaws, shall be forwarded to the City Council 
for review and approval, before those bylaws or amendments take effect. 
 
Sec. 23-106    Compensation and Benefits 

No member of the CHYC shall receive any compensation for council activities, nor shall any person 
serving on the CHYC be deemed an agent or employee of the City, being entitled to any customary 
employment benefits, specifically including, but not limited to workers’ compensation benefits. 
 
Sec. 23-107    Funding 

All operating funds shall be held in a dedicated City of Caribou account and managed by the City of 
Caribou Finance Director. 
 
All grant applications seeking funds more than $2,500.00 shall be approved by the City Council, and all 
funds related to CHYC activities shall be administered through the City Manager’s office. 
 
Sec. 23-108    Reporting Requirements 

The CHYC shall file an annual report with the City Council on or before July 31st each year, covering 
goals, activities, and accomplishments during the preceding school year. 

38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



City Manager's Report
April 22, 2024

 

Economic Projects

  

River Front - Powerplants EPA CERCLA action planned to start in May.

Broadband Initiative
An email from the Maine Connectivity Authority that states that they are close to a contract with Charter for the communities that 
were covered in the ReachMe grant award from April 2023.

Ogren Dump Solar Project No new updates.

Events and Marketing
The next event is the Spring Runoff on Saturday May 11. You can contact the Recreation department for more details. The City Wide 
Yard Sale is May 17 to 19. Also, may folks have asked about the annual brush removal program. It will be May 6 - May 9. There will 
only be one pass through each neighborhood. Rural residents should call for pick-up to 493-4211.

Landbank This was discussed at the last meeting. Waiting to see what happens on the state level.

Chapter 13 Rewrite The Planning Board has asked staff to work up a time line for getting changes to a Public Hearing.

Federal American Rescue Plan Act The two applications to the Aroostook County ARPA matching grant were approved.

Blight Cleanup No new updates

Birdseye Cleanup No new updates.

Caribou Development Committee Met on April 17. Dates being scheduled for some follow-up events.

River Front - Master Plan No new updates

Façade Improvement Program On tonight's agenda

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage No new updates.

Caribou Economic Growth Council No new updates.

Business Outreach Met with several business owners during the façade improvement grant application process.

59



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy No new updates.

Nylander No new updates.

Fire Structural Work No new updates.

Fire Station Renovations No new updates.

Police Station S W Cole has submitted their geotechnical report for the police station site.

River Road No new updates.

Investment Policy No new updates.

Trailer Park Closure No new updates

Cable Franchise Renewal No new updates.

Airport The bids are in for the apron project. Soderberg Construction of Caribou was the low bidder.

Personnel Policy No new updates.

New LED Street lights No new updates.

Comp Plan Update The Planning Board has asked staff to work up a time line for getting a draft of the 2024-2034 Comprehensive Plan.

LD 2003 Implementation Planning Board received a document for their review from NMDC.

15 Prospect Street No new updates.

Water Street Fire No new updates.

Age-Friendly Efforts No new updates.

Personnel Changes No new updates.

DOT Village Partnership No new updates.

Aroostook Waste Solutions Meeting held on April 19.

Cary Medical Center The 100th anniversary of Jefferson Cary's vision for a Caribou community hospital will be celebrated in 2024.

Other Updates Thank you to everyone for your work to get through another winter. Bring on the Spring!

60



Looking Ahead to Setting the 2024 Tax Rate 
 
The total amount to be raised from property taxes includes: 
 
Municipal Appropriations   School Funding   City portion of County Tax 
*Amount needed to fund all city  *Amount to operate the  *The Aroostook County  
departments and is reduced by the  RSU#39, Stockholm 4.39%  budget is apportioned to all  
revenues raised by the city which  and Caribou 95.61%. This  areas of Aroostook by the  
includes excise tax and state funds  amount is reduced by the  equalized state valuation. It  
like Revenue Sharing and the   State Aid to Education.  Includes amounts to operate  
exemption reimbursements like       county operations which is a  
homestead, business equipment, etc.       distinct and separate budget  

from the county jail budget. 
Caribou is third, behind the 
Unorganized Townships & 
the City of Presque Isle for 
County taxes assessed. 

 
*The City Council approves the  *The School Board sets  *The County Commissioners  
expense and revenue budgets after  the school budget and it  and the County Finance  
a public hearing. This was set in  goes first to a District   Committee work to prepare  
March per city charter. The City  Budget meeting where the  and approve these budgets. 
Council may not increase the   warrant articles for each  This year, the County is 
annual expense budget after   cost center are approved.  transitioning to a fiscal year 
      Then the budget is sent to   & will send out for 18 months 
      a validation vote.   of County Tax. 
            
      *2024-2025 Budget dates:  *The Public Hearing on the   
      Wednesday May 22 for the  12-month budget will be on 
      District Budget Meeting &  Tuesday May 14. Comments 
      Tuesday June 11 for the  from the public can be  
      Budget Validation vote.  submitted until 3 pm that day. 
 
      *The assessors for the City  *The assessors for the City 
      must raise the amount billed  must raise the amount billed 
      to the City by the RSU.  to the City by the County. 
 
 
 
To determine the amount to be raised, the total amount to be raised from property taxes (combine the amounts 
above) by the taxable valuation in Caribou (both real estate and business personal property). 
 
Using the most recent 2023 tax year as an example: The total taxable valuation in Caribou was $470,220,059. 
The amount of tax for commitment was: $9,169,291. The tax rate was .0195 or a “mil rate” of 19.5. If you are 
wondering, a “mil” is 1/1000 of valuation or $470,220.059, so a “mil rate” of 19.5 means the City raised 19.5 
“mils” ($470,220.059 X 19.5 = $9,169,291).  

61



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  April 22, 2024 
RE:   Snow Removal Contract Agreement for Unorganized Territory of Connor Township 
 
 

 
The County of Aroostook has sent the attached Snow Removal Contract Agreement for Unorganized Territory 
of Connor Township for a three-year period of July 1, 2024 to June 30,2027. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
To accept the attached contract, please make a motion to approve the Snow Removal Contract Agreement for 
Unorganized Territory of Connor Township for a three-year period of July 1, 2024 to June 30,2027. 
 
Second. Discuss. Vote 
 
 
 
 
 

62



63



64



65



66



67



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  April 22, 2024 

  RE:   Maine DOT Mill & Fill, 1 ¼” Overlay, Project No. 26065.00, 26067.00, 26430.00  
  Construction Overlimit Permit request  
 
 

 
The State of Maine is working on a Mill & Fill Overlay project. This project is primarily in Fort Fairfield but 
there is a small portion in Caribou. The Maine Department of Transportation is requesting that the municipal 
officials grant a construction overlimit permit for the project. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
To accept the Construction Overlimit Permit request for the Maine DOT Mill & Fill, 1 ¼” Overlay, Project No. 
26065.00, 26067.00, 26430.00, please make a motion to approve the Construction Overlimit Permit request for 
the Maine DOT Mill & Fill, 1 ¼” Overlay, Project No. 26065.00, 26067.00, 26430.00. 
 
Second. Discuss. Vote 
 
 
 
 
 

68



 

 

 
Danielle Brissette, City Clerk        4/16/2024 
Re: City of Caribou 
25 High Street 
Caribou, Maine 04736 

 
Subject: Mill & Fill, 1 ¼” Overlay 
Project No.: 26065.00, 26067.00, 26430.00 
Location: Fort Fairfield - Caribou 
Roadway: US Route 1A, Route 161 

Dear Ms. Brissette: 
 
 The Maine Department of Transportation will soon solicit quotes for the subject project for 
construction, and pursuant to 29-A MRSA § 2382 (7) we have established a “Construction Area.”  A copy 
of 29-A § 2382 is enclosed for your information.  Also included is an agreement, which requires signature 
by the municipal officers, and additional background documents.   
 
 The agreement stipulates that the municipality will issue a permit for a stated period of time to the 
MDOT contractor for transporting construction equipment (backhoes, bulldozers, etc.) that exceed legal 
weight limits, over municipal roads.  The agreement acknowledges the municipality’s right to require a bond 
from the contractor to “guarantee suitable repair or payment of damages” per 29-A MRSA.   
 
 29-A MRSA § 2382 (7) states that “the suitability of repairs or the amount of damage is to be 
determined by the Department of Transportation on state-maintained ways and bridges, otherwise by the 
municipal officers.”  In other words, municipal officers determine the suitability of repairs on municipal 
ways and bridges. 
  
 The State cannot force municipalities to allow overweight vehicles to travel on posted municipal 
roads.  Municipal postings supersede overweight permits.  However, the agreement requires municipalities 
to make reasonable accommodations for overweight vehicles that are operated by contractors and the MDOT 
in connection with the construction project.  
 
 The specific municipal roads involved are not necessarily known at present, as the contractor’s plan 
of operation won’t be known until just prior to the start of work.  If the municipality plans to require a bond; 
the amount of the bond should be determined prior to the start of work.  If the project number administratively 
changes, you will be notified, and the agreement modified accordingly.  Please return the completed 
agreement to my attention. Should you have any questions, please contact me at 207 624-3410. 

 
   Sincerely, 
 
 
   George M.A. Macdougall, P.E. 
   Contracts & Specifications Engineer    
   Bureau of Project Development 
  69



 

Please return this AGREEMENT, when completed, to:  
 
Maine Department of Transportation 
ATTN.: George Macdougall, Contracts & Specifications Engineer 
#16 State House Station, Child Street 
Augusta, Maine 04333-0016 
 

Project No.: 2606500, 2606700, 
26463.00 
Location: Caribou 

 
Pursuant to 29-A MRSA § 2382, the undersigned municipal officers of the City of Caribou 
agree that a construction overlimit permit will be issued to the Contractor for the above-
referenced project allowing the contractor to use overweight equipment and loads on 
municipal ways.  
 
The municipality may require the contractor to obtain a satisfactory bond pursuant to  
29-A MRSA § 2388 to cover the cost of any damage that might occur as a result of the 
overlimit loads.  If a bond is required, the exact amount of said bond should be determined 
prior to the use of any municipal way.  The MaineDOT will assist in determining the amount 
of the bond if requested.  A suggested format for a general construction overlimit bond is 
attached.  A suggested format for a construction overlimit permit is also attached.  This 
construction overlimit permit does not supersede rules that restrict the use of public ways, 
such as posting of public ways, pursuant to 29-A MRSA § 2395. 
 
The maximum speed limit for trucks on any municipal way will be 25 mph (40 km per hour) 
unless a higher speed limit is specifically agreed upon, in writing, by the Municipal Officers. 
 

           CITY OF CARIBOU 
         By the Municipal Officials 
 
         ________________________ 
 
         ________________________ 
 
         ________________________ 
 
         ________________________ 
 
         ________________________ 
 
         ________________________ 
 

 70



Fort Fairfield, Fort Fairfield, & Fort Fairfield-Caribou 
26065.00, 26067.00, & 26430.00 

Route 161, US Route 1A, & US Route 1A 
January 29, 2024 

 

 
SPECIAL PROVISION 105 
CONSTRUCTION AREA 

 
Construction Areas located in the Town of Fort Fairfield and the City of Caribou have been established by 
the Maine Department of Transportation (MDOT) in accordance with provisions of 29-A § 2382 Maine 
Revised Statutes Annotated (MRSA). 

 
The section of highway under construction in Aroostook County:   
 
Project 2606500 is located on Route 161 in Fort Fairfield beginning at US Route 1A and extending 
southeast 1.20 miles.  Also, includes ramps to US Route 1A. 
Project 2606800 is located on US Route 1A in Fort Fairfield beginning 0.05 of a mile north of McShea 
Siding Road and extending northeast 1.04 miles. 
Project 2643000 is located on Route 161 beginning in Fort Fairfield at US Route 1A and extending 
northwest 6.20 miles. Includes 0.03 of a mile on Route 161S in Caribou. 
 

Per 29-A § 2382 (7) MRSA, the MDOT may “issue permits for stated periods of time for loads and equipment 
employed on public way construction projects, United States Government projects or construction of private 
ways, when within construction areas established by the Department of Transportation. The permit: 
 

A. Must be procured from the municipal officers for a construction area within that municipality;  
 

B. May require the contractor to be responsible for damage to ways used in the construction areas and 
may provide for:  
 

(1) Withholding by the agency contracting the work of final payment under contract; or 
 

(2) The furnishing of a bond by the contractor to guarantee suitable repair or payment of 
damages. 
 

The suitability of repairs or the amount of damage is to be determined by the Department of 
Transportation on state-maintained ways and bridges, otherwise by the municipal officers; 

 

C. May be granted by the Department of Transportation or by the state engineer in charge of the 
construction contract; and 
 

D. For construction areas, carries no fee and does not come within the scope of this section.” 
 

The Municipal Officers for the Town of Fort Fairfield and the City of Caribou agreed that an Overlimit Permit 
will be issued to the Contractor for the purpose of using loads and equipment on municipal ways in excess of 
the limits as specified in 29-A MRSA, on the municipal ways as described in the “Construction Area.” 
 
As noted above, a bond may be required by the municipality, the exact amount of said bond to be determined 
prior to use of any municipal way.  The MDOT will assist in determining the bond amount if requested by the 
municipality.   
 
The maximum speed limits for trucks on any town way will be 25 mph (40 km per hour) unless a higher 
legal limit is specifically agreed upon in writing by the Municipal Officers concerned. 

71


